APPENDIX A

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Boston Edison M/C Nuclear Docket No. 50-239)
Pilgrim Generating Station License No. DPR-35

As a result of the inspection conducted on December 10-13, 1984, and in accord-
ance with the NRC Enforcement Policy, 49 FR 8594 (March 8, 1984), the following
violations were identified:

1. 10 CFR 50.54(q) requires that licensees authorized to possess and/or oper-
ate nuclear power reactors follow and maintain in effect emergency plans
which meet the standards in 10 CFR 50.47(b) and 10 CFR 50, Appendix E.

10 CFR 50 Appendix E (2) requires that provisions be described for yearly
dissemination of basic emergency planning information to the public, within
the plume exposure pathway of the EPZ. Section 6.4.3, Part 5, of the
Pilgrim Nuclear Power Station fmergency Plan states that "This dissemin-
ation (basic radiological and emergency planning information) will be
accomplished yearly by general mailing and hand distribution...."

Contrary to the above, the licensee did not disseminate the required
information by general mailing for 1983 or 1984, as described in their
Emergency Plan, nor could they demonstrate that the information was
disseminated by other means.

This is a Severity Level IV violation.

- 10 CFR 50, Appendix E, Section G, requires provisions to be employed to
ensure that the emergency plan, its implementing procedures ... are
maintained up to date.

Section N.8.3 of the Emergency Plan states, in part, the emergency plan
and implementing procedures will be reviewed annually and updated as
necessary.

Contrary to the above, the licensee did not update annually the changes to
the emergency plan and procedures.

This is a Severity Level IV violation.

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Boston Edison M/C Nuclear is hereby
required to submit to this office within thirty days of the date of the letter
which transmitted this Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply,
including: (1) the corrective steps which have been taken and the results
achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid further violations;
and (3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Where good cause is

shown, consideration will be given to extending this response time.
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